
DEKALB COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
Minutes of Meeting 
September 28, 2004 

 
 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:  Steve Kuhn, P.A.-C, President; Carl Heinisch, Vice President; 
Russell, Bishop, Psy.D.; Julia Fullerton; Jean Gastiger, R.N., F.N.P.; Rosemary Lane, M.D.; John Olson, 
D.D.S.; Debra Schelkopf, D.V.M.; Mary Beth Shear, M.D.; Steve Wolf, R.N. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: Mike Groark, J.D 
 
Mr. Kuhn announced that Mrs. Grush was recognized by the DeKalb County Board this past month for 30 
years of employment.  Mrs. Baj, Director of Home Care, was also recognized for 20 years of employment 
with DeKalb County. 
 
  
MINUTES 
 
On a motion by Ms. Fullerton, seconded by Mr. Wolf, the minutes of the Board of Health meeting of July 
27, 2004, were approved.  Motion carried. 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL DATA 
 
On a motion by Ms. Fullerton, seconded by Ms. Gastiger, the Financial Statements for the months of July 
and August 2004 and the Claims for the months of August and September 2004 were approved.  Motion 
carried. 
 
 
Mrs. Zanellato, Director of Health Education, introduced Health Department employee, Janet Rodriguez, 
and members of the Alpha Sigma Omega Latina Sorority Inc.  This sorority has hosted a variety of 
activities for Hispanic teens, including a dance workshop, a career night with Latina professionals as 
speakers, and workshops with a fitness/nutrition component.  This group of young women do an excellent 
job in serving as role models for this population.  Mr. Kuhn expressed the Board’s appreciation by 
presenting the members with a plaque.  The members, in turn, introduced themselves to Board members 
and guests.   
 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Jim Grosklags, Chair, DeKalb Smoke-free Coalition 
Presentation on the Coalition’s Efforts for a Smoke-free DeKalb 
 
Mr. Grosklags indicated that he was present to explain the Smoke-free Coalition to Board members and 
request their support in eliminating smoking in public areas in the City of DeKalb.  He stated that, in the 
fall of 2003, the Citizens’ Environmental Commission, of which he is a member, discussed a smoke-free 
ordinance, and a coalition of people was organized to work towards a meaningful smoking ordinance in 
the City of DeKalb.  Mr. Grosklags explained that 18 municipalities in Illinois are allowed to pass an 
ordinance because they were on the books prior to 1990.  All other communities in the state must follow 



 2

state regulations on smoking in public areas.  Of the 18 communities, the only ones that have passed 
smoke-free ordinances are Skokie and Wilmette.  Skokie’s ordinance applies only to restaurants, while 
the ordinance in Wilmette applies to restaurants and bars.  There has also been activity in Champaign-
Urbana.  This issue was in the State Legislature in June of 2004 as HB 3996, and was defeated by one 
vote.   
 
The coalition has been meeting monthly in developing an ordinance for the City of DeKalb that would 
protect workers by prohibiting smoking in all workplaces.  Currently, the Ordinance is weak, with the 
focus and prime concern being the health of workers where smoking occurs, those suffering from second-
hand smoke.  Mr. Grosklags pointed out the negative information on second-hand smoke, including 
asthma, cancer, heart disease, and respiratory diseases.  He reported that 38,000 people die each year from 
exposure to second-hand smoke; one non-smoker for every eight that dies of tobacco use.  He added that 
the danger of second-hand smoke is underestimated. 
 
Over 700 cities nationwide have developed no smoking ordinances, and 11 states have state laws with 
strict no smoking ordinances.  One-half of these ordinances include bars and restaurants and all public 
places.  Eight countries have no smoking ordinances for the entire country. 
 
Mr. Grosklags reiterated that he is requesting support for the development of an ordinance that would 
prohibit smoking in public places, such as bars, restaurants, and bowling alleys.  He also wants the Board 
of Health to be a sponsor and appear in their pamphlets. 
 
Mrs. Grush asked if this affected all work places.  Mr. Grosklags responded that it would be any 
establishment that has employees that may be affected by second-hand smoke.  He added that NIU 
students are conducting a survey of City of DeKalb residents, with separate surveys of students and 
community members.  This survey could support for forwarding the issue to the DeKalb City Council in 
the spring of 2005 or show the need for continuing education before doing so. 
 
Mrs. Fullerton asked if any businesses in DeKalb are smoke-free and also if Mr. Grosklags has talked to 
the DeKalb Chamber of Commerce.  He responded that the Chamber of Commerce has sent out postcards 
asking basic questions on the issue, but he has not spoken with them specifically.  He added that there are 
a number of restaurants that are smoke-free in DeKalb County.  Mrs. Zanellato pointed out that there are 
69 such restaurants in DeKalb County.   
 
Dr. Olson asked if this ordinance would allow an employee to smoke outside.  Mr. Grosklags reported 
that most ordinances specify a certain distance that the smoker must be from the building.  Mr. Kuhn 
asked if this applied to city parks.  Mr. Grosklags responded that this does not apply to outdoor areas.  He 
added that the Winter 2003-2004 edition of Respect, a publication by the Illinois Licensed Beverage 
Association (ILBA), had a clip that said the ILBA anticipates smoking ban proposals to be introduced in 
the near future, and DeKalb was listed in there.  Mr. Grosklags encouraged participation to defeat the 
smoking ban proposals.   
 
Mr. Heinisch stated that he has a lot of respect for Mr. Grosklags and does not have a problem with the 
statement that smoking causes cancer.  He is also in favor of volunteer efforts that encourage nonsmoking 
leadership within our community and in the Health Department, but he does have a problem with trying to 
legislate, not for smoking, but for government legislating common sense in communities.  He feels this 
can be done with the right kind of leadership in the community.   
 
Dr. Lane stated that the problem is not in interfering with a person’s right to smoke, but in protecting 
those who have to work in an environment where smoking is permitted and suffering as a result of that.  
While smoking can harm pregnant women and their unborn children, many places will not institute a no 



 3

smoking policy unless legislated because of the possible loss of customers.  She feels this is as close to a 
public health issue as any.  Mr. Grosklags pointed out that there are all kinds of OSHA regulations to 
protect the workplace so this is not unique, and could be just another of those regulations.  He added that 
this is strictly a health issue of protecting people that have to work in an environment where smoking is 
allowed, as well as people in that environment who are non-smokers.   
 
Mrs. Gastiger agreed with the issue of government intrusion, and cited the example of wearing a seat belt, 
which is common good versus an individual rights issue.  She agreed this does generate controversy, but 
she would have to support it from a public health standpoint.  Mr. Wolf agreed, adding that as a public 
health entity, it is our responsibility to promote the common good.  He stated that Mr. Heinisch’s point is 
valid in that the legislature can go overboard, but in this situation, he compares it to noise ordinances and 
repressing individual behavior for the common good. 
 
Mrs. Fullerton stated that she understands the public health aspect is a function of this body.  She 
wondered if there was some way to reduce smoking on the individual’s own volition rather than through 
an ordinance.  Dr. Shear compared this to the seat belt law and pointed out that if one doesn’t want to 
wear their seat belt, they could kill themselves but not hurt anyone else.  This is not the case with 
smoking, as smoking is the number one killer associated with cancer and heart disease.  In her role with 
public health, she would support such an ordinance.   
 
Dr. Olson questioned how feasible it would be to have DeKalb be smoke-free and not Sycamore.  He 
feels this would cause problems as they are essentially one community.  He dislikes having the 
government be intrusive.  Mr. Kuhn stated that, from a public health viewpoint, he would support the 
issue.  Being a medical practitioner, he knows how harmful second-hand smoke is, however he is also 
concerned about the government being intrusive.  He is hesitant to support it at this time if it only covers 
public areas and not all of the City of DeKalb.   
 
Mr. Grosklags stated that he was asking the Board of Health to endorse the resolution to eliminate 
smoking in public places in the City of DeKalb, and the agency could be listed on education materials or 
advertising as a supporter.  Dr. Bishop stated that he would be supportive of the development of a 
resolution, but it would be helpful to clarify some issues to offer a clear endorsement.  He pointed out that 
the proposal is more of a blanket statement that this resolution is a good thing, but the coalition needs to 
continue with a clearer definition in order for the Board to support it now.  Mr. Grosklags asked for 
specific concerns, and Dr. Bishop responded that a definition of “public place” is needed as it is too vague 
at this point.  Mr. Grosklags stated that no ordinances thus far have included public parks.  Dr. Bishop 
stated that endorsement of this resolution would have the Board of Health’s name and reputation attached 
to it, and he is unsure what is being endorsed and would like to see it clarified.  Mrs. Gastiger pointed out 
that the resolution must be manageable and reasonable, and she would want to guarantee the right of non-
smokers to be smoke-free.   
 
Mr. Kuhn asked if the Board of Health had a representative on the coalition at this time.  Mr. Grosklags 
stated that it is Mrs. Grush or her designee.  Mr. Wolf feels that the Board or agency should have a 
continuing presence on the coalition.  He stated that while he is hearing support of the concept, there 
remain details that need to be worked out.   
 
Mr. Wolf moved that the agenda item be tabled pending further clarification of public places and brought 
back to the November 2004 Board of Health meeting.  Dr. Bishop seconded.  Motion carried. 
 
The next Board of Health meeting will be held on the 30th of November.  It was decided that Mr. 
Grosklags would provide a revised resolution at that time.  Mrs. Grush stated that her understanding of 
the resolution is that there is support from the Board, but not if it applies to public parks, public places, 



 4

outside one’s home or walking down the street.  She believes the coalition is in the beginning stages of 
going throughout the county to gain support. 
  
 
Mary Uscian, Former Director of TriCounty Community Health Center, Malta 
 
Mrs. Grush reported that the Governor signed into law HB 752 that requires children in grades 
Kindergarten, second and sixth, to have dental exams.  This was presented at the last Board of Health 
meeting before being signed into law, and Mrs. Grush suggested, at that time, that Mrs. Uscian, a co-
founder of TriCounty Community Health Center, be invited to speak to the Board of Health because of 
her experience in conducting of a feasibility study and attempting to establish a dental clinic.  The Bill 
was signed into law, and Mrs. Grush has agreed to serve on the advisory panel as the State requested that 
a representative from a health department that did not have a dental clinic participate.  The first 
teleconference was this week.  Mrs. Grush pointed that while the mission of the Health Department is to 
promote health, this new law is going to be extremely difficult for school districts to comply with.   
 
Mrs. Uscian stated that her report was a comprehensive analysis that was done a couple years ago when 
she was the Director of TriCounty Community Health Center.  A dentist from Brazil who was getting her 
masters in Public Health conducted a comprehensive feasibility study of the indigent population in need 
of dental services.  This was not a needs assessment, but rather offered alternatives, resources, how would 
the service be provided, etc.  She was also asked to explore all models from self-sufficient to a referral 
system.   
 
First, it was necessary to examine if there were enough residents in need of services.  Data was collected 
from September 2001 to April 2002 on the target population not receiving dental care, those without 
health insurance or on Public Aid.  The raw numbers were studied to determine what a clinic would need 
to operate full-time.  At that time, there were 4,000 Medicaid recipients in DeKalb County and 9,900 
(11%) uninsured.  Patients at TriCounty and the Health Department were surveyed, with almost 100 
surveys collected.  The target population was asked if they had ongoing dental health care, with 30% of 
IPA patients and 54% of uninsured responding they did not.  The survey identified that there were at least 
6,000 individuals, and possibly 11,000, that would utilize services but had no place to go.   
 
The concept of a self-sufficient for-profit dental clinic was studied, as well as what people could pay and 
were able to pay for care.  A flat fee for dental care was developed as it was easier to work with that 
system no matter what service was provided.  A flat fee approach for the billing of services was used.  
The survey respondents were asked what the most was that they would be willing to pay for dental care, 
with the result being from $10 to $70.  The average amount was $47, and 77% of clients identified $50 or 
less as the maximum they were willing or able to pay.   
 
With clients willing to pay $47, revenue and expenses of such a program were studied.  A budget was 
developed with minimal staffing and paying fair market prices and the revenue mix of Medicaid and 
clients that were willing to pay around $50.  Other resources were also examined that TriCounty could tap 
into to offset costs with a handful of resources identified that would provide start-up funding.  The Illinois 
Department of Public Health (IDPH) had a grant that would provide $35,000 for start-up, but no operating 
funds.  There were also a couple of federal grants and some from the community, all for start-up funds 
with not one for ongoing salaries.   Mrs. Uscian spoke with other clinics and identified that supplies could 
potentially be donated.  With 70% of the budget being personnel and no resources for day-to-day 
operations, clients would need to pay the bulk of the charges.  With 60% of clients on Medicaid and 40% 
uninsured, the lowest cost she could charge for supplies was $32.77.  She stated this was not realistic 
based on the expenses at TriCounty.  The majority of clients needing dental care would actually be 25% 



 5

on Medicaid and 75 % uninsured, which brought the cost up to $52 to support a “bare bones” not-for-
profit type of clinic.   
 
Another scenario that was studied was the referral system whereby community dentists would be asked to 
accept a set number of patients per month at a low cost or no charge.  With 5,000 individuals needing 
dental care and 44 dentists practicing in the area, this averaged out to 125 dental visits per dentist per year 
or 10 per month.  These figures were assuming that all 44 dentists would participate.   
 
Another scenario was to use a mobile van rather than a fixed clinic.  It was found that this did not reduce 
costs, as 70% of costs are personnel and there would also be the expense of maintaining the van.  While it 
would appear that this option could potentially improve access to a certain degree and could serve more 
people because of traveling to communities, it has been determined in other areas that a fixed location 
improves access.   
 
Another model that was studied was the volunteer basis.  The largest volume clinic in northern Illinois is 
in DuPage County, with 32 dentists volunteering four hours per month in the part-time clinic.  There is 
one paid staff member that is a volunteer coordinator.  Everything else for the clinic is donated.  These 32 
dentists are 4% of the 809 practicing dentists in the community.  With DeKalb County’s 44 dentists, 4% 
would be less than two dentists.   
 
The conclusions were that the most likely successful scenario was to operate the clinic with paid staff to 
assure continuity and having the service available.  Based on the reality of the mix of patients (25% 
Medicaid and 75% self-pay uninsured) and charging $50 for the service, it was the conclusion that 
TriCounty could not take the chance of operating another program that would lose money.  Even though 
respondents indicated in the survey that they would be willing to pay around $50, the reality of them 
being able to come up with the money was questionable.   
 
Dr. Shear asked if the issue was supplies and how much that would cost.  Mrs. Uscian responded that she 
was making the assumption that supplies would be donated.  It was assumed that TriCounty would only 
be doing cleanings, fillings and extractions.  Mrs. Uscian added that Crusader Clinic is a federally funded 
health center, with the government providing one-third of anticipated costs and charging patient fees.  Dr. 
Olson pointed out that IPA does not pay anything for individuals over 18 years of age. 
 
Mrs. Grush agreed that the reality of clients being able to pay $50 for dental care was not realistic.  Mrs. 
Uscian pointed out that the fee for service at TriCounty is $20 and many people cannot pay that.  Mrs. 
Gastiger asked if NIU students were considered in this population.  Mrs. Uscian responded that it was the 
uninsured, some of which may be NIU students.   
 
Dr. Lane asked if dentists in the area were asked for recommendations on solving this problem.  Mrs. 
Uscian responded that a dental services feasibility study committee was formed, and eight dentists that 
had expressed interest were invited.  Two attended the first meeting and none attended subsequent 
meetings.  Two dentists expressed their sentiment that the need was already being met and that estimates 
of the need were exaggerated.  Based on need, dentists do take some uninsured clients so are seeing some 
of this population.  Mrs. Lux stated that sometimes a school nurse will call a dentist and explain a 
situation, and the dentist will end up seeing them.  Dr. Olson pointed out that DeKalb Community Child 
Care (4-C) has a small program.  He added that 2 of the 44 dentists are specialists.   
 
Dr. Shear indicated that she had called Dr. Todd Curtis, President of the local dental society, and he 
indicated that this is something he has been considering.  They are having a meeting on the 6th of October, 
and Dr. Shear suggested that Mrs. Uscian talk to him.  Mrs. Uscian responded that it would clearly be best 
if the local dental society was willing to develop a referral system, which would serve 6,000 to 8,000 



 6

individuals.  She pointed out that their needs are much more extensive than the rest of the population 
because they will typically need more work.  While she is sympathetic to the situation, she does not think 
DeKalb County would offer such a program at this time.  Mrs. Uscian indicated that she had talked to the 
Community Foundation, and while they are a wonderful resource, they do not fund ongoing operations.  
Dr. Olson stated that some dental supply houses would donate goods.  Mr. Heinisch stated that there used 
to be three dental schools, but the problem is the distance from DeKalb County that they are located.  
Mrs. Uscian added that they are already being asked to take care of the Chicago population.   
 
Mrs. Grush reported that she called the DeKalb School District and asked how many children were on the 
free or reduced lunch program.  While there were 4,755 children on this program last year, there are    
5,319 this year, an increase of almost 600 students.  28% of students are on the free lunch program and 
5% are on the reduced.  One-third of students are poverty low-income, with another level of students 
whose families are struggling.  These statistics show that 40% of the students in DeKalb would have 
extreme difficult paying for a dental exam or dental work.  She stated that she does not believe dentists 
are going to see all students on Medicaid.  Dr. Olson stated he had talked to Springfield and asked about 
the manpower issues and was told there were plenty of waivers built into the Law.  Mr. Kuhn stated that 
he had talked with Dr. Hammond, Superintendent of Sycamore School District, and he indicated there 
was no way a report card would be held for lack of a dental exam.  Mrs. Grush stated that, while the 
intentions are laudable, this will be a bureaucratic nightmare for school districts. Schools will have to get 
waivers in with dental exams or show proof that a child has an appointment within 60 days by May 15.   
  
Mrs. Uscian sympathizes with the school districts and thinks this is an extremely poor piece of legislation.  
She added that they should also fund the law if they are going to keep it.  Mrs. Uscian pointed out that 
children need dental care, not only for oral care, but for systemic diseases.  There is no way for the local 
community to absorb this cost as the resources are just not available.   
 
Dr. Shear stated that some dental care does not require a dentist.  Mrs. Grush pointed out that the Law 
requires that the dental exam be done by a dentist.  Mrs. Uscian added that the state does have a sealant 
program, but it does not come with adequate funding to support it.  Dr. Shear suggested just looking at 
hardship cases and utilizing a referral system for specific children.  Mrs. Uscian responded that there 
would need to be a triage of some type in place.  Dr. Olson pointed out that one-half of the dentists do not 
see children, so that limits the number of children seen even more.  Mr. Kuhn feels it would be worth it to 
have a dialogue with the Dental Society.  Mrs. Grush stated that Dr. Olson could be a liaison and 
representative of the Board of Health.  Dr. Olson stated that the local society is more of a study club, and 
he belongs to the Fox Valley chapter that is an “official” one.  He added that one-half of patients do not 
have dental insurance, so the idea that only insured are receiving dental care is not the case.  Dr. Olson 
indicated he would talk to the Dental Society and report at the next Board meeting.  Mrs. Grush will keep 
the Board informed through her activities on the State committee. 
 
 
Mutual Aid System 
 
Mrs. Grush presented an “Intergovernmental Mutual Aid Agreement for the establishment of Illinois 
Public Health Mutual Aid System (IPHMAS).  The DeKalb County Board unanimously passed the 
DeKalb County Health Department participating in the IPHMAS at their meeting of September 15, 2004.  
She reported that representatives from Public Health, both local and state and various legal entities, have 
been working on this agreement for a couple years, and the document needed to be signed by the DeKalb 
County Board.  Fifty health departments so far throughout the State have signed the agreement.   
 
The agreement, in essence, states that one of our neighbors, in an emergency, could request assistance 
from our agency.  The Agreement spells out their and our responsibilities such as salaries, workman’s 



 7

compensation issues and litigation, should that occur.  A county can deny sending staff.  Mrs. Grush 
pointed out that, in the past, our agency has been asked to assist other counties, but has not been able to 
do so because we simply did not have the staff.   She added that the Agreement is a good thing from the 
standpoint that everybody will know their responsibilities.   
 
 
Board of Health Memberships 
 
A listing of Board of Health memberships that are eligible for reappointment was presented.  Dr. Bishop, 
Dr. Shear and Mr. Wolf agreed to serve another three-year term, expiring in 2007.  Ms. Fullerton accepted 
another one-year term as County Board representative, expiring in 2005.  These reappointments will be 
taken to the DeKalb County Board for approval at their December 2004 meeting. 
 
 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
FY2005 Budget 
 
Mrs. Grush reported that the Health Department’s FY2005 Budget was submitted to the DeKalb County 
Board in August 2004.  She presented a recap of the request, which showed the 2004 request to the 
County, the recommendation by the County Administrator and Deputy Administrator, and where the 
budget stood as of September 15 at the DeKalb County Board meeting.   
 
The request for the storage shed and tractor, at the request of the Public Building Commission, is not 
being recommended and would need to be funded from the Health Department fund balance.  Mrs. Grush 
prefers to wait on the storage shed until the Home Care project begins, and wants to wait until December 
2004 on the tractor for snow removal until the budget is finalized by the DeKalb County Board.   
 
Mrs. Grush reported that the Renewal and Replacement Fund increased from $100,000 to $125,000 this 
year.  At the September 15 DeKalb County Board meeting, a 2 percent fee increase for GIS and the Law 
Library was denied, resulting in a $285,000 shortfall.  To make up that shortfall, the Public Health request 
was being reduced by $25,000.  She added that there was a lot of discussion on the cuts as the DeKalb 
County Board did not understand the purpose of the fee increases.  These requests will be brought back to 
the next DeKalb County Board meeting and may be reinstated in the budget. 
 
 
 
DIVISION REPORTS 
 
Mrs. Grush reported that staff have been spending a lot of time on bioterrorism and are really pushing to 
get the Plan in place.  Members of the committee met with police forces from the surrounding area and 
security is now in place.  The major concern is finding enough workers to staff an event.  The State is 
working on regional distribution sites.  This means that, if an event happened in the City of Chicago, we 
could become an alternate site. 
  
Notification was received from the Environmental Protection Agency that DeKalb County was selected 
for a Hazardous Waste Day this fall.  Our agency was selected because our collections in the past have 
always been very successful.  Mrs. Grush attributes part of the success to advertisements in the Midweek 
and that our population is conscious of these events.  The event will be held on the 9th of October. 
 



 8

Mrs. Lux, Director of Personal Health Services, distributed a number of charts regarding programs in her 
division.  These included the annual percentage of clients who initiate breastfeeding, the percentage of 
clients who breastfeed for 12 months, the percent of women starting Maternal Child Health (MCH) 
services in the first trimester, the percent of children with the 3-2-2 immunization series by 24 months of 
age, and the percent of children with the 4-3-3-1 immunization series by 35 months.  MCH objectives that 
will be focused on in FY05 were also included.  Mrs. Lux presented a notebook of Client Satisfaction 
Surveys, which included a tally of results and comments made, with much nice feedback from clients.   
 
The Communicable Disease Program was consumed with a Cryptosporidiosis outbreak in August.  A 
Rapid Response Team from the State arrived and assisted with gathering information, communicating 
with other entities and interviewing individuals.  The Team also assisted agency staff in entering 
information into Epi Info (software that analyzes epidemiologic data) and conducted a case control study.  
The study confirmed a statistically significant association of cases with swimming at the identified pool 
facility.  The Team is currently writing a summary report titled “A Recreational Water Outbreak of 
Cryptosporidiosis in DeKalb County, Illinois.”  Mrs. Lux indicated that she would share this study with 
the Board when it is completed.  Mrs. Grush felt it was fortunate that this outbreak occurred at the end of 
the swimming season and that the weather had been a bit cooler.  She added that the Park District was 
extremely cooperative, immediately closed the pool and cleaned it up by hyperchlorinating and closing 
down for 72 hours.   
 
The Communicable Disease Program was contacted last week by a day care with 14 children that had 
diarrhea.  The suspect in these cases was the Norwalk virus.  More information on this topic will be 
provided at the Board of Health meeting in November. 
 
Mr. Wolf asked, of the Cryptosporidiosis cases, how many had a direct link to the pool at Hopkins Park.  
Mrs. Grush responded that all had a direct link except one that was a household contact.   
 
Mr. Kuhn asked about the course of treatment for the gentleman diagnosed with TB during a hospital 
stay.  Mrs. Lux indicated that he completed a two-month short course treatment of Pyrazinamide and 
Rifampin.  He was previously involved in an Isoniazid/Streptomycin resistant M. TB investigation in 
2001, and noone is positive of what works in these cases.   
 
Mrs. Baj, Director of Home Care, reported that a full-time nurse is starting Monday.   
 
Mrs. Zanellato, Director of Health Education, thanked the Board for their recognition of Ms. Rodriguez 
and her sorority and the work they are doing with Hispanic teens.  While the service sorority never looks 
for recognition, they do appreciate it.   
 
 
 
CORRESPONDENCE AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Newspaper articles for the months of July and August included information on the Cryptosporidiosis 
outbreak, West Nile virus prevention, the saving of nearly $100 million a year related to the receipt of 
chickenpox shots, Oil Collection event on June 26, health screening at the DeKalb County Farm Bureau, 
Electronics Collection Day on August 14, and a bat in Kirkland that tested positive for rabies. 
 
The Home Care Program received a note from a recipient of nursing services thanking for the 
competence, caring and friendliness of the nurses providing her care. 
 
 



 9

ADJOURNMENT 
 
On a motion by Dr. Bishop, seconded by Mr. Wolf, the Board of Health meeting adjourned at 9:20 p.m.   
Motion carried. 
 
Due to the Thanksgiving holiday, the next Board of Health meeting will be on Tuesday, November 30, 
2004. 
 
 
 
        
Mike Groark, Secretary 
DeKalb County Board of Health  
 


